

S.106

Introduced by Senator White

Referred to Committee on Government Operations

Date: April 8, 2011

Subject: Municipal government

Statement of purpose: This bill proposes to make miscellaneous changes to municipal government law. *An act relating to miscellaneous changes to municipal government law, to internal financial controls, to the management of search and rescue operations, and to emergency medical services*

~~An act relating to miscellaneous changes to municipal government law. An act relating to miscellaneous changes to municipal government law and to internal financial controls~~

It is hereby enacted by the General Assembly of the State of Vermont:

~~*** Violations; Penalties ***~~

Sec. 1. 10 V.S.A. § 2675 is amended to read:

§ 2675. PENALTIES

A person who commits a violation under subsection 2645(a) or 2648(a) of this title shall be subject to a fine of not more than ~~\$25.00~~ \$75.00 per violation.

In the case of a violation which continues after the issuance of a fire prevention complaint, each day's continuance may be deemed a separate violation.

ec. 2. 24 V.S.A. § 1974a is amended to read:

§ 1974a. ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL ORDINANCE VIOLATIONS

(a) A civil penalty of not more than ~~\$500.00~~ \$800.00 may be imposed for a violation of a civil ordinance. Each day the violation continues shall constitute a separate violation.

1 ~~(b) All civil ordinance violations, except municipal parking violations, and~~
2 all continuing civil ordinance violations, where the penalty is ~~\$500.00~~ \$800.00
3 or less, shall be brought before the judicial bureau pursuant to Title 4 and this
4 chapter. If the penalty for all continuing civil ordinance violations is greater
5 than ~~\$500.00~~ \$800.00, or injunctive relief, other than as provided in subsection
6 (c) of this section, is sought, the action shall be brought in the criminal division
7 of the superior court, unless the matter relates to enforcement under chapter
8 117 of this title, in which instance the action shall be brought in the
9 environmental division of the superior court.

10 * * *

11 Sec. 3. 24 V.S.A. § 4451 is amended to read:

12 § 4451. ENFORCEMENT; PENALTIES

13 (a) Any person who violates any bylaw after it has been adopted under this
14 chapter or who violates a comparable ordinance or regulation adopted under
15 prior enabling laws shall be fined not more than ~~\$100.00~~ \$300.00 for each
16 offense. No action may be brought under this section unless the alleged
17 offender has had at least seven days' warning notice by certified mail. An
18 action may be brought without the seven-day notice and opportunity to cure if
19 the alleged offender repeats the violation of the bylaw or ordinance after the
20 seven-day notice period and within the next succeeding 12 months. The
21 seven-day warning notice shall state that a violation exists, that the alleged

1 ~~offender has an opportunity to cure the violation within the seven days, and~~
2 that the alleged offender will not be entitled to an additional warning notice for
3 a violation occurring after the seven days. In default of payment of the fine,
4 the person, the members of any partnership, or the principal officers of the
5 corporation shall each pay double the amount of the fine. Each day that a
6 violation is continued shall constitute a separate offense. All fines collected
7 for the violation of bylaws shall be paid over to the municipality whose bylaw
8 has been violated.

9 (b) Any person who, being the owner or agent of the owner of any lot,
10 tract, or parcel of land, lays out, constructs, opens, or dedicates any street,
11 sanitary sewer, storm sewer, water main, or other improvements for public use,
12 travel, or other purposes or for the common use of occupants of buildings
13 abutting thereon, or sells, transfers, or agrees or enters into an agreement to sell
14 any land in a subdivision or land development whether by reference to or by
15 other use of a plat of that subdivision or land development or otherwise, or
16 erects any structure on that land, unless a final plat has been prepared in full
17 compliance with this chapter and the bylaws adopted under this chapter and
18 has been recorded as provided in this chapter, shall be fined not more than
19 ~~\$100.00~~ \$300.00, and each lot or parcel so transferred or sold or agreed or
20 included in a contract to be sold shall be deemed a separate violation. All fines
21 collected for these violations shall be paid over to the municipality whose

1 ~~bylaw has been violated. The description by metes and bounds in the~~
2 instrument of transfer or other document used in the process of selling or
3 transferring shall not exempt the seller or transferor from these penalties or
4 from the remedies provided in this chapter.

5 * * * Taxes * * *

6 Sec. 4. 10 V.S.A. § 6244a is added to read:

7 § 6244a. ESCROW OF PROPERTY TAXES

8 (a) A mobile home park owner shall require monthly payments from the
9 owner of a mobile home in a mobile home park approximating one-twelfth of
10 the reasonably estimated annual property taxes and shall be subject to all of the
11 provisions of 8 V.S.A. § 10404 with respect to the escrow of the payments.

12 (b) The mobile home park owner shall pay from the escrow account to the
13 municipality when due the property taxes of the owner of a mobile home in the
14 mobile home park and shall return any money in excess of one-twelfth of the
15 reasonably estimated annual property taxes for the succeeding year.

16 Sec. 5. 24 V.S.A. § 1535 is amended to read:

17 § 1535. ABATEMENT

18 (a) The board may abate in whole or part taxes, interest, ~~and~~ or collection
19 fees, other than those arising out of a corrected classification of homestead or
20 nonresidential property, accruing to the town in the following cases:

21 * * *

~~*** Municipal Powers and Duties ***~~

1
2 Sec. 6. 24 V.S.A. § 1571 is amended to read:

3 § 1571. ACCOUNTS

4 (a) The town treasurer shall keep an account of moneys, bonds, notes, and
5 evidences of debt paid or delivered to him or her, and of moneys paid out by
6 him or her for the town and the town school district, which accounts shall at all
7 times be open to the inspection of persons interested.

8 (b) Moneys received by the town treasurer on behalf of the town may be
9 invested and reinvested by the treasurer with the approval of the legislative
10 body.

11 (c) The town treasurer shall file quarterly reports with the legislative body
12 regarding his or her actions described in subsections (a) and (b) of this section.

13 Sec. 7. 24 V.S.A. § 1972 is amended to read:

14 § 1972. PROCEDURE

15 (a)(1) The legislative body of a municipality desiring to adopt an ordinance
16 or rule may adopt it subject to the petition set forth in section 1973 of this title
17 and shall cause it to be entered in the minutes of the municipality and posted in
18 at least five conspicuous places within the municipality. ~~The full text of the~~
19 ~~ordinance or rule, or a concise summary of it including a statement of purpose,~~
20 ~~principal provisions, and table of contents or list of section headings, shall be~~
21 published legislative body shall arrange for one formal publication of the

1 ~~ordinance or rule in a newspaper circulating in the municipality on a day not~~
2 ~~more than 14 days following the date when the proposed provision is so~~
3 ~~adopted. Along with the concise summary shall be published a reference to a~~
4 ~~place within the municipality where the full text may be examined. When the~~
5 ~~text or concise summary of an ordinance is published, the Information~~
6 ~~included in the publication shall be the name of the municipality and its~~
7 ~~website; the title or subject of the ordinance or rule; the name, telephone~~
8 ~~number, and mailing address of a municipal official designated to answer~~
9 ~~questions and receive comments on the proposal; and where the full text may~~
10 ~~be examined. The same notice shall explain citizens' rights to petition for a~~
11 ~~vote on the ordinance or rule at an annual or special meeting as provided in~~
12 ~~section 1973 of this title, and shall also contain the name, address and~~
13 ~~telephone number of a person with knowledge of the ordinance or rule who is~~
14 ~~available to answer questions about it.~~

15 (2) Unless a petition is filed in accordance with section 1973 of this title,
16 the ordinance or rule shall become effective 60 days after the date of its
17 adoption, or at such time following the expiration of 60 days from the date of
18 its adoption as is determined by the legislative body. If a petition is filed in
19 accordance with section 1973 of this title, the taking effect of the ordinance or
20 rule shall be governed by section 1973(e) of this title.

21 * * *

1 ~~(c) The procedure herein provided shall apply to the adoption of any~~
2 ordinance or rule by a municipality unless another procedure is provided by
3 charter, special law, or particular statute.

4 Sec. 8. 24 V.S.A. § 2291 is amended to read:

5 § 2291. ENUMERATION OF POWERS

6 For the purpose of promoting the public health, safety, welfare, and
7 convenience, a town, city, or incorporated village shall have the following
8 powers:

9 * * *

10 (4) To regulate the operation and use of vehicles of every kind including
11 the power: to erect traffic signs and signals; to regulate the speed of vehicles
12 subject to ~~23 V.S.A. §§ 1141-1147~~ subchapter 12 of chapter 13 of Title 23; to
13 regulate or exclude the parking of all vehicles; and to provide for waiver of the
14 right of appearance and arraignment in court by persons charged with parking
15 violations by payment of specified fines within a stated period of time.

16 * * *

17 (6) To regulate the location, installation, maintenance, repair, and
18 removal of utility poles, wires and conduits, water pipes or mains, or gas mains
19 and sewers, upon, under, or above public highways or public property of the
20 municipality.

1 ~~(7) To regulate or prohibit the erection, size, structure, contents, and~~
2 location of signs, posters, or displays on or above any public highway,
3 sidewalk, lane, or alleyway of the municipality and to regulate the use, size,
4 structure, contents, and location of signs on private buildings or structures.

5 (8) To regulate or prohibit the use or discharge, but not possession of,
6 firearms within the municipality or specified portions thereof, provided that an
7 ordinance adopted under this subdivision shall be consistent with section 2295
8 of this title and shall not prohibit, reduce, or limit discharge at any existing
9 sport shooting range, as that term is defined in 10 V.S.A. § 5227.

10 (9) To license or regulate itinerant vendors, peddlers, door-to-door
11 salesmen, and those selling goods, wares, merchandise, or services who engage
12 in a transient or temporary business, or who sell from an automobile, truck,
13 wagon, or other conveyance, excepting persons selling fruits, vegetables, or
14 other farm produce.

15 * * *

16 (11) To regulate, license, tax, or prohibit circuses, carnivals and
17 menageries, and all plays, concerts, entertainments, or exhibitions of any kind
18 for which money is received.

19 * * *

1 ~~(14) To define what constitutes a public nuisance, and to provide~~
2 ~~procedures and take action for its abatement or removal as the public health,~~
3 ~~safety, or welfare may require.~~

4 * * *

5 (16) To name and rename streets and to number and renumber lots
6 pursuant to section ~~4421~~ 4463 of this title.

7 * * *

8 * * * Poor Relief * * *

9 Sec. 9. 24 V.S.A. § 1236 is amended to read:

10 § 1236. POWERS AND DUTIES IN PARTICULAR

11 The manager shall have authority and it shall be his or her duty:

12 * * *

13 (2) To perform all duties now conferred by law upon the ~~selectmen~~
14 selectboard, except that he or she shall not prepare tax bills, sign orders on the
15 general fund of the town, ~~other than orders for poor relief~~, call special or
16 annual town meetings, lay out highways, establish and lay out public parks,
17 make assessments, award damages, act as member of the board of civil
18 authority, nor make appointments to fill vacancies which the ~~selectmen are~~
19 selectboard is now authorized by law to fill; but he or she shall, in all matters
20 herein excepted, render the ~~selectmen~~ selectboard such assistance as ~~they~~ it
21 shall require;

1 * * *

2 (4) To have charge and supervision of all public town buildings, repairs
3 thereon, and repairs of buildings of the town school district upon requisition of
4 the school directors; and all building done by the town or town school district,
5 unless otherwise specially voted, shall be done under his or her charge and
6 supervision;

7 (5) To perform all the duties now conferred by law upon the road
8 commissioner of the town, including the signing of orders; provided, however,
9 that when an incorporated village lies within the territorial limits of a town
10 which is operating under a town manager, and such village fails to pay to such
11 town for expenditure on the roads of the town outside the village, at least
12 ~~fifteen~~ 15 percent of the last highway tax levied in such village, the legal voters
13 residing in such town, outside such village, may elect one or two road
14 commissioners who shall have and exercise all powers of road commissioner
15 within that part of such town as lies outside such village;

16 * * *

17 Sec. 10. 24 V.S.A. § 1762 is amended to read:

18 § 1762. LIMITS

19 (a) A municipal corporation shall not incur an indebtedness for public
20 improvements which, with its previously contracted indebtedness, shall, in the
21 aggregate, exceed ten times the amount of the last grand list of such municipal

1 ~~corporation. Bonds or obligations given or created in excess of the limit~~
2 authorized by this subchapter and contrary to its provisions shall be void.

3 (b) However, the provisions of this subchapter as to the debt limit shall not
4 apply to bonds issued under sections 1752, or 1754 and 1769 of this title,
5 relating to the ordinary expenses of a municipality, ~~nor to bonds issued for~~
6 ~~poor relief.~~

7 Sec. 11. REPEAL

8 24 V.S.A. §§ 1769 (notes and bonds for poor relief) and 1770 (application)
9 are repealed.

10 * * * Glebe Lands * * *

11 Sec. 12. REPEAL

12 24 V.S.A. §§ 2404 (rents of other lands, how divided and applied) and 2405
13 (contract under previous law not affected) are repealed.

14 * * * Municipal Planning and Development * * *

15 Sec. 13. 24 V.S.A. § 4303 is amended to read:

16 § 4303. DEFINITIONS

17 The following definitions shall apply throughout this chapter unless the
18 context otherwise requires:

19 * * *

20 (33) "Public road" means a state highway or town highway as defined in
21 19 V.S.A. § 1.

1 ~~Sec. 14. 24 V.S.A. § 4325 is amended to read:~~

2 § 4325. POWERS AND DUTIES OF PLANNING COMMISSIONS

3 Any planning commission created under this chapter may:

4 * * *

5 (6) Prepare and present a recommended capital budget and program for
6 a period of ~~five~~ eight years, as set forth in section 4440 of this title, for action
7 by the legislative body, as set forth under section 4443 of this title;

8 * * *

9 Sec. 15. 24 V.S.A. § 4387 is amended to read:

10 § 4387. READOPTION OF PLANS

11 (a) All plans, including all prior amendments, shall expire every ~~five~~ eight
12 years unless they are readopted according to the procedures in section 4385 of
13 this title.

14 * * *

15 Sec. 16. 24 V.S.A. § 4442 is amended to read:

16 § 4442. ADOPTION OF BYLAWS AND RELATED REGULATORY

17 TOOLS; AMENDMENT OR REPEAL

18 * * *

19 (c) Routine adoption.

20 (1) A bylaw, bylaw amendment, or bylaw repeal shall be adopted by a
21 majority of the members of the legislative body at a meeting that is held after

1 ~~the final public hearing, and shall be effective 21 days after adoption unless, by~~
2 ~~action of the legislative body, the bylaw, bylaw amendment, or bylaw repeal is~~
3 ~~warned for adoption by the municipality by Australian ballot at a special or~~
4 ~~regular meeting of the municipality.~~

5 (2) However, a rural town with a population of fewer than 2,500 persons
6 as defined in section 4303 of this chapter, by vote of that town at a special or
7 regular meeting duly warned on the issue, may elect to require that bylaws,
8 bylaw amendments, or bylaw repeals shall be adopted by vote of the town by
9 Australian ballot at a special or regular meeting duly warned on the issue. That
10 procedure shall then apply until rescinded by the voters at a regular or special
11 meeting of the town.

12 * * *

13 Sec. 17. EFFECTIVE DATE

14 ~~This act shall take effect on passage.~~

** * * Violations; Penalties * * **

Sec. 1. 10 V.S.A. § 2675 is amended to read:

§ 2675. PENALTIES

A person who commits a violation under subsection 2645(a) or 2648(a) of this title shall be subject to a fine of not more than ~~\$25.00~~ \$75.00 per violation. In the case of a violation which continues after the issuance of a fire prevention complaint, each day's continuance may be deemed a separate violation.

Sec. 2. 24 V.S.A. § 1974a is amended to read:

§ 1974a. ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL ORDINANCE VIOLATIONS

(a) A civil penalty of not more than ~~\$500.00~~ \$800.00 may be imposed for a violation of a civil ordinance. Each day the violation continues shall constitute a separate violation.

(b) All civil ordinance violations, except municipal parking violations, and all continuing civil ordinance violations, where the penalty is ~~\$500.00~~ \$800.00 or less, shall be brought before the judicial bureau pursuant to Title 4 and this chapter. If the penalty for all continuing civil ordinance violations is greater than ~~\$500.00~~ \$800.00, or injunctive relief, other than as provided in subsection (c) of this section, is sought, the action shall be brought in the criminal division of the superior court, unless the matter relates to enforcement under chapter 117 of this title, in which instance the action shall be brought in the environmental division of the superior court.

** * **

Sec. 3. 24 V.S.A. § 4451 is amended to read:

§ 4451. ENFORCEMENT; PENALTIES

(a) Any person who violates any bylaw after it has been adopted under this chapter or who violates a comparable ordinance or regulation adopted under prior enabling laws shall be fined not more than ~~\$100.00~~ \$200.00 for each offense. No action may be brought under this section unless the alleged offender has had at least seven days' warning notice by certified mail. An action may be brought without the seven-day notice and opportunity to cure if the alleged offender repeats the violation of the bylaw or ordinance after the seven-day notice period and within the next succeeding 12 months. The seven-day warning notice shall state that a violation exists, that the alleged offender has an opportunity to cure the violation within the seven days, and that the alleged offender will not be entitled to an additional warning notice for a violation occurring after the seven days. In default of payment of the fine, the person, the members of any partnership, or the principal officers of the corporation shall each pay double the amount of the fine. Each day that a violation is continued shall constitute a separate offense. All fines collected for the violation of bylaws shall be paid over to the municipality whose bylaw has been violated.

(b) Any person who, being the owner or agent of the owner of any lot, tract, or parcel of land, lays out, constructs, opens, or dedicates any street, sanitary sewer, storm sewer, water main, or other improvements for public use, travel, or other purposes or for the common use of occupants of buildings abutting thereon, or sells, transfers, or agrees or enters into an agreement to sell any

land in a subdivision or land development whether by reference to or by other use of a plat of that subdivision or land development or otherwise, or erects any structure on that land, unless a final plat has been prepared in full compliance with this chapter and the bylaws adopted under this chapter and has been recorded as provided in this chapter, shall be fined not more than ~~\$100.00~~ \$200.00, and each lot or parcel so transferred or sold or agreed or included in a contract to be sold shall be deemed a separate violation. All fines collected for these violations shall be paid over to the municipality whose bylaw has been violated. The description by metes and bounds in the instrument of transfer or other document used in the process of selling or transferring shall not exempt the seller or transferor from these penalties or from the remedies provided in this chapter.

** * * Damages by Dogs * * **

Sec. 4. REPEAL

20 V.S.A. §§ 3741 (election of remedy), 3742 (notice of damage; appraisal), 3743 (examination of certificate), 3744 (fees and travel expenses), 3745 (identification and killing of dogs), 3746 (action against town), and 3747 (action by town against owner of dogs) are repealed.

Sec. 5. 20 V.S.A. § 3622 is amended to read:

§ 3622. FORM OF WARRANT

Such warrant shall be in the following form:

*State of Vermont:)
)
_____ County, ss.)*

To _____, constable or police officer of the town or city of _____:

By the authority of the state of Vermont, you are hereby commanded forthwith to impound ~~and destroy in a humane way or cause to be destroyed in a humane way~~ all dogs and wolf-hybrids not duly licensed according to law, except as exempted by ~~section 20 V.S.A. § 3587 of 20 V.S.A.~~; and you are further required to make and return complaint against the owner or keeper of any such dog or wolf-hybrid. A dog or wolf-hybrid that is impounded may be transferred to an animal shelter or rescue organization for the purpose of finding an adoptive home for the dog or wolf-hybrid. If the dog or wolf-hybrid cannot be placed in an adoptive home or transferred to a humane society or rescue organization within ten days, or a greater number of days established by the municipality, the dog or wolf-hybrid may be destroyed in a humane way.

Hereof fail not, and due return make of this warrant, with your doings thereon, within 90 days from the date hereof, stating the number of dogs or wolf-hybrids destroyed and the names of the owners or keepers thereof, and whether all unlicensed dogs or wolf-hybrids in such town (or city) have been destroyed, and the names of persons against whom complaints have been made under the provisions of 20 V.S.A. chapter 193, subchapters 1, 2, and 4 of chapter 193 of 20 V.S.A., and whether complaints have been made and returned against all persons who have failed to comply with the provisions of such subchapter.

*Given under our (my) hands at _____ aforesaid, this
_____ day of _____, 19 20 _____.*

Legislative Body

** * * Taxes * * **

Sec. 6. 24 V.S.A. § 1535 is amended to read:

§ 1535. ABATEMENT

(a) The board may abate in whole or part taxes, interest, ~~and~~ or collection fees, other than those arising out of a corrected classification of homestead or nonresidential property, accruing to the town in the following cases:

** * **

** * * General Municipal Powers and Duties * * **

Sec. 7. 24 V.S.A. § 1972 is amended to read:

§ 1972. PROCEDURE

(a)(1) The legislative body of a municipality desiring to adopt an ordinance or rule may adopt it subject to the petition set forth in section 1973 of this title and shall cause it to be entered in the minutes of the municipality and posted in at least five conspicuous places within the municipality. ~~The full text of the ordinance or rule, or a concise summary of it including a statement of purpose, principal provisions, and table of contents or list of section headings, shall be published~~ legislative body shall arrange for one formal publication of the ordinance or rule or a concise summary thereof in a newspaper circulating in the municipality on a day not more than 14 days following the date when the proposed provision is so adopted. ~~Along with the concise summary shall be published a reference to a place within the municipality where the full text may be examined. When the text or concise summary of an ordinance is published, the~~ Information included in the publication shall be the name of the municipality; the name of the municipality's website, if the municipality actively updates its website on a regular basis; the title or subject of the

ordinance or rule; the name, telephone number, and mailing address of a municipal official designated to answer questions and receive comments on the proposal; and where the full text may be examined. The same notice shall explain citizens' rights to petition for a vote on the ordinance or rule at an annual or special meeting as provided in section 1973 of this title, and shall also contain the name, address and telephone number of a person with knowledge of the ordinance or rule who is available to answer questions about it.

(2) Unless a petition is filed in accordance with section 1973 of this title, the ordinance or rule shall become effective 60 days after the date of its adoption, or at such time following the expiration of 60 days from the date of its adoption as is determined by the legislative body. If a petition is filed in accordance with section 1973 of this title, the taking effect of the ordinance or rule shall be governed by ~~section~~ subsection 1973(e) of this title.

* * *

(c) The procedure herein provided shall apply to the adoption of any ordinance or rule by a municipality unless another procedure is provided by charter, special law, or particular statute.

Sec. 8. 24 V.S.A. § 2291 is amended to read:

§ 2291. ENUMERATION OF POWERS

For the purpose of promoting the public health, safety, welfare, and convenience, a town, city, or incorporated village shall have the following powers:

* * *

(4) To regulate the operation and use of vehicles of every kind including the power: to erect traffic signs and signals; to regulate the speed of vehicles subject to 23 V.S.A. ~~§§ 1141-1147~~ chapter 13, subchapter 12; to regulate or exclude the parking of all vehicles; and to provide for waiver of the right of appearance and arraignment in court by persons charged with parking violations by payment of specified fines within a stated period of time.

* * *

(6) To regulate the location, installation, maintenance, repair, and removal of utility poles, wires and conduits, water pipes or mains, or gas mains and sewers, upon, under, or above public highways or public property of the municipality.

(7) To regulate or prohibit the erection, size, structure, contents, and location of signs, posters, or displays on or above any public highway,

sidewalk, lane, or alleyway of the municipality and to regulate the use, size, structure, contents, and location of signs on private buildings or structures.

(8) To regulate or prohibit the use or discharge, but not possession of, firearms within the municipality or specified portions thereof, provided that an ordinance adopted under this subdivision shall be consistent with section 2295 of this title and shall not prohibit, reduce, or limit discharge at any existing sport shooting range, as that term is defined in 10 V.S.A. § 5227.

(9) To license or regulate itinerant vendors, peddlers, door-to-door salesmen, and those selling goods, wares, merchandise, or services who engage in a transient or temporary business, or who sell from an automobile, truck, wagon, or other conveyance, excepting persons selling fruits, vegetables, or other farm produce.

* * *

(11) To regulate, license, tax, or prohibit circuses, carnivals and menageries, and all plays, concerts, entertainments, or exhibitions of any kind for which money is received.

* * *

(14) To define what constitutes a public nuisance, and to provide procedures and take action for its abatement or removal as the public health, safety, or welfare may require.

* * *

(16) To name and rename streets and to number and renumber lots pursuant to section ~~4421~~ 4463 of this title.

* * *

Sec. 8a. PLAINFIELD TOWN MEETINGS

Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, for three years subsequent to the effective date of this act, the polling place of the town of Plainfield may be located; any annual and special meetings may be conducted; and with the permission of the school, any other public meetings may be conducted at the Twinfield Union School in Marshfield, Vermont.

** * * Poor Relief * * **

Sec. 9. 24 V.S.A. § 1236 is amended to read:

§ 1236. POWERS AND DUTIES IN PARTICULAR

The manager shall have authority and it shall be his or her duty:

* * *

(2) To perform all duties now conferred by law upon the ~~selectmen~~ selectboard, except that he or she shall not prepare tax bills, sign orders on the general fund of the town, ~~other than orders for poor relief~~, call special or annual town meetings, lay out highways, establish and lay out public parks, make assessments, award damages, act as member of the board of civil authority, nor make appointments to fill vacancies which the ~~selectmen are~~ selectboard is now authorized by law to fill; but he or she shall, in all matters herein excepted, render the ~~selectmen~~ selectboard such assistance as ~~they~~ it shall require;

* * *

(4) To have charge and supervision of all public town buildings, repairs thereon, and repairs of buildings of the town school district upon requisition of the school directors; and all building done by the town or town school district, unless otherwise specially voted, shall be done under his or her charge and supervision;

(5) To perform all the duties now conferred by law upon the road commissioner of the town, including the signing of orders; provided, however, that when an incorporated village lies within the territorial limits of a town which is operating under a town manager, and such village fails to pay to such town for expenditure on the roads of the town outside the village, at least ~~fifteen~~ 15 percent of the last highway tax levied in such village, the legal voters residing in such town, outside such village, may elect one or two road commissioners who shall have and exercise all powers of road commissioner within that part of such town as lies outside such village;

* * *

Sec. 10. 24 V.S.A. § 1762 is amended to read:

§ 1762. LIMITS

(a) A municipal corporation shall not incur an indebtedness for public improvements which, with its previously contracted indebtedness, shall, in the aggregate, exceed ten times the amount of the last grand list of such municipal corporation. Bonds or obligations given or created in excess of the limit authorized by this subchapter and contrary to its provisions shall be void.

(b) However, the provisions of this subchapter as to the debt limit shall not apply to bonds issued under sections 1752, or 1754 ~~and 1769~~ of this title, relating to the ordinary expenses of a municipality, ~~nor to bonds issued for poor relief.~~

Sec. 11. REPEAL

24 V.S.A. §§ 1769 (notes and bonds for poor relief) and 1770 (application) are repealed.

* * * *Glebe Lands* * * *

Sec. 12. REPEAL

24 V.S.A. §§ 2404 (rents of other lands, how divided and applied) and 2405 (contract under previous law not affected) are repealed.

* * * *Municipal Planning and Development* * * *

Sec. 13. 24 V.S.A. § 4303 is amended to read:

§ 4303. DEFINITIONS

The following definitions shall apply throughout this chapter unless the context otherwise requires:

* * *

(33) “Public road” means a state highway as defined in 19 V.S.A. § 1 or a class 1, 2, or 3 town highway as defined in 19 V.S.A. § 302(a). A municipality may, at its discretion, define a public road to also include a class 4 town highway as defined in 19 V.S.A. § 302(a).

Sec. 14. 24 V.S.A. § 4412 is amended to read:

§ 4412. REQUIRED PROVISIONS AND PROHIBITED EFFECTS

Notwithstanding any existing bylaw, the following land development provisions shall apply in every municipality:

* * *

(3) Required frontage on, or access to, public roads, class 4 town highways, or public waters. Land development may be permitted on lots that do not have frontage either on a public road, class 4 town highway, or public waters, provided that access through a permanent easement or right-of-way has been approved in accordance with standards and process specified in the bylaws. This approval shall be pursuant to subdivision bylaws adopted in accordance with section 4418 of this title, or where subdivision bylaws have not been adopted or do not apply, through a process and pursuant to standards defined in bylaws adopted for the purpose of assuring safe and adequate access. Any permanent easement or right-of-way providing access to such a road or waters shall be at least 20 feet in width.

* * *

Sec. 15. 24 V.S.A. § 4442 is amended to read:

*§ 4442. ADOPTION OF BYLAWS AND RELATED REGULATORY TOOLS;
AMENDMENT OR REPEAL*

** * **

(c) Routine adoption.

(1) A bylaw, bylaw amendment, or bylaw repeal shall be adopted by a majority of the members of the legislative body at a meeting that is held after the final public hearing, and shall be effective 21 days after adoption unless, by action of the legislative body, the bylaw, bylaw amendment, or bylaw repeal is warned for adoption by the municipality by Australian ballot at a special or regular meeting of the municipality.

(2) However, a rural town ~~with a population of fewer than 2,500 persons~~ as defined in section 4303 of this chapter, by vote of that town at a special or regular meeting duly warned on the issue, may elect to require that bylaws, bylaw amendments, or bylaw repeals shall be adopted by vote of the town by Australian ballot at a special or regular meeting duly warned on the issue. That procedure shall then apply until rescinded by the voters at a regular or special meeting of the town.

** * **

** * * Property; Filing of Land Plats * * **

Sec. 16. 27 V.S.A. § 1404(b) is amended to read:

(b) Survey plats prepared and filed in accordance with ~~section 4416 of Title 24 V.S.A. § 4463~~ shall be exempt from subdivision ~~1403(b)(6)~~ 1403(b)(5) of this title. Survey plats or plans filed under this exemption shall contain a title area, the location of the land and scale expressed in engineering units. In addition, they shall include inscriptions and data required by zoning and planning boards.

Sec. 17. 27 V.S.A. § 1403(b) is amended to read:

(b) Plats filed in accordance with this chapter shall also conform with the following further requirements:

** * **

(8) The recordable plat materials shall be composed in one of the following processes:

(A) fixed-line photographic process on stable base polyester film; or

(B) pigment ink on stable base polyester film or linen tracing cloth.

Sec. 18. REPEAL

27 V.S.A. § 1403(b)(8) (process for recordable plat materials) is repealed on July 1, 2013.

** * * Unorganized Towns and Gores * * **

Sec. 19. 24 V.S.A. § 1408 is amended to read:

§ 1408. SUPERVISOR; GENERAL DUTIES

~~Such~~ The supervisor shall act as ~~selectman~~ a ~~select~~person in matters of road encroachment, planning, and related bylaws, as school director and truant officer, as constable, as collector of taxes ~~and~~, as town clerk in the matter of licensing dogs, and as town clerk and board of civil authority in the matter of tax appeals from the decisions of the board of appraisers.

Sec. 20. 32 V.S.A. § 4408 is amended to read:

§ 4408. HEARING BY BOARD

(a) On the date so fixed by the town clerk and from day to day thereafter, the board of civil authority shall hear such appellants as appear in person or by agents or attorneys, until all such objections have been heard and considered. All objections filed in writing with the board of civil authority at or prior to the time fixed for hearing appeals shall be determined by the board notwithstanding that the person filing the objections fails to appear in person, or by agent or attorney.

(b) ~~Ad hoc board for unorganized towns and gores. For purposes of hearing appeals under this subchapter only, the supervisor shall create an ad hoc board composed of:~~

(1) ~~the supervisor; and~~

(2) ~~one member from each adjoining municipality's board of civil authority, to be appointed by each respective board of civil authority, representing no fewer than three and no more than five of the adjoining municipalities, at the discretion of the supervisor. [Repealed.]~~

(c) ~~The ad hoc board provided for in subsection (b) of this section shall, for purposes of hearing appeals under this subchapter only, act as a board of civil authority, and an aggrieved party shall have further appeal rights as though the party had appealed to a board of civil authority. [Repealed.]~~

** * * Unified Towns and Gores in Essex County * * **

Sec. 21. REIMBURSEMENT FOR GRIEVANCE HEARING EXPENDITURES

(a) A unified town or gore shall be entitled to claim reimbursement for expenditures incurred in conducting grievance hearings when:

(1) the hearing was held between July 1, 2009 and February 23, 2011;

(2) the expenditures related to hiring a person or persons to participate in the grievance hearing; and

(3) the expenditures were necessary to comply with 32 V.S.A. § 4408.

(b) Claims shall be filed with the department of taxes within 60 days of the effective date of this act, with receipts or other documentation as the department may require.

**** Public Service; Renewable Pilot Program ****

Sec. 22. 30 V.S.A. § 8102 is amended to read:

~~§ 8102. INCENTIVES; CUSTOMER CONNECTIONS~~

~~(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the The clean energy development fund created under 10 V.S.A. § 6523 section 8015 of this title shall provide at least \$100,000.00 in incentives to customers who will connect to a certified Vermont village green renewable project. Any such incentive shall be applied by the customer to the cost of constructing the customer's connection to the project.~~

~~(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a) of this section or any other law, on and after April 1, 2012, the clean energy development fund shall make up to \$100,000.00 of funds that would otherwise have been available to customers connecting to Vermont village green renewable projects under this section available to other district heating on a competitive basis. The use of such funds shall not be limited to customer connections. For the purpose of this subsection, it shall not be necessary that the district heating be proposed by a municipality, serve a downtown development district or growth center under 24 V.S.A. § 2793 or 2793c, or obtain certification under this chapter.~~

**** Auditor of Accounts; Internal Financial Controls ****

Sec. 23. 32 V.S.A. § 163 is amended to read:

~~§ 163. DUTIES OF THE AUDITOR OF ACCOUNTS~~

~~In addition to any other duties prescribed by law, the auditor of accounts shall:~~

~~(6) Report on or before February 15 of each year to the house and senate committees on appropriations in which he or she shall summarize~~

~~significant findings, and make such comments and recommendations as he or she finds necessary. [Repealed.]~~

* * *

~~(11) Make available to all counties, municipalities, and supervisory unions as defined in 16 V.S.A. § 11(23) and supervisory districts as defined in 16 V.S.A. § 11(24) a document designed to determine the internal financial controls in place to assure proper use of all public funds. The auditor shall consult with the Vermont School Boards Association, the Vermont Association of School Business Officials, and the Vermont League of Cities and Towns in the development of the document. The auditor shall strive to limit the document to one letter-size page. The auditor shall also make available to public officials charged with completing the document instructions to assist in its completion.~~

~~(12) Make available to all county, municipality, and school district officials with fiduciary responsibilities an education program. The program shall provide instruction in fiduciary responsibility, faithful performance of duties, the importance and components of a sound system of internal financial controls, and other topics designed to assist the officials in performing the statutory and fiduciary duties of their offices. The auditor shall consult with the Vermont School Boards Association, the Vermont Association of School Business Officials, and the Vermont League of Cities and Towns in the development of the education program.~~

~~Sec. 24. AUDITOR WEBSITE; AUDIT FINDINGS~~

~~(a) By July 1, 2012, the auditor of accounts shall prominently post on his or her official state website the following information:~~

~~(1) a summary of all embezzlements and false claims, as that term is described in 13 V.S.A. § 3016, against any agency or department of the state committed within the last five years, whether committed by a state employee, contractor, or other person. The summary shall include the names of all persons or entities convicted of those offenses; and~~

~~(2)(A) all reports with findings that result from audits conducted under 32 V.S.A. § 163(1); and~~

~~(B) a summary of significant recommendations arising out of the audits that are contained in audit reports conducted under 32 V.S.A. § 163(1) and issued since January 1, 2012, and the dates on which corrective actions were taken related to those recommendations. Recommendation follow-up shall be conducted at least biennially and for at least four years from the date of the audit report.~~

(b) The auditor of accounts shall notify the general assembly of the initial posting made on his or her website pursuant to subsection (a) of this section by electronic or other means.

** * * Municipalities; Internal Financial Controls * * **

Sec. 25. 24 V.S.A. § 832 is amended to read:

§ 832. BONDS; REQUIREMENTS

Before the school directors, constable, road commissioner, collector of taxes, treasurer, assistant treasurer when appointed by the ~~selectmen~~ selectboard, ~~and~~ clerk, and any other officer or employee of the town who has authority to receive or disburse town funds enter upon the duties of their offices, the ~~selectmen~~ selectboard shall require each to give a bond conditioned for the faithful performance of his or her duties; the school directors, to the town school district; the other named officers, to the town. The treasurer, assistant treasurer when appointed by the ~~selectmen~~ selectboard, and collector shall also be required to give a bond to the town school district for like purpose. All such bonds shall be in sufficient sums and with sufficient sureties as prescribed and approved by the ~~selectmen~~ selectboard. If the ~~selectmen~~ selectboard at any time ~~consider~~ considers a bond of any such officer or employee to be insufficient, ~~they~~ it may require, by written order, ~~such~~ the officer or employee to give an additional bond in such sum as ~~they deem~~ it deems necessary. If an officer or employee, so required, neglects for ten days after such request to give such original or additional bond, his or her office shall be vacant. A bond furnished pursuant to the provisions of this section shall not be valid if signed by any other officer of the same municipality as surety thereon.

Sec. 26. 24 V.S.A. § 872 is amended to read:

§ 872. ~~SELECTMEN~~ SELECTBOARD; GENERAL POWERS AND DUTIES

(a) The ~~selectmen~~ selectboard shall have the general supervision of the affairs of the town and shall cause to be performed all duties required of towns and town school districts not committed by law to the care of any particular officer.

(b) The selectboard shall annually, on or before July 31, acknowledge receipt of and review the document made available by the auditor of accounts pursuant to 32 V.S.A. § 163(11) regarding internal financial controls and which has been completed and provided to the selectboard by the treasurer pursuant to section 1571 of this title.

(c) The selectboard may require any other officer or employee of the town who has the authority to receive or disburse town funds to complete and provide to the selectboard a copy of the document made available by the

auditor of accounts pursuant to 32 V.S.A. § 163(11). The officer or employee shall complete and provide the document to the selectboard within 30 days of the selectboard's requirement. The selectboard shall acknowledge receipt of and review the completed document within 30 days of receiving it from the officer or employee.

Sec. 27. 24 V.S.A. § 1571 is amended to read:

§ 1571. ACCOUNTS; REPORTS

(a) The town treasurer shall keep an account of moneys, bonds, notes, and evidences of debt paid or delivered to him or her, and of moneys paid out by him or her for the town and the town school district, which accounts shall at all times be open to the inspection of persons interested.

(b) Moneys received by the town treasurer on behalf of the town may be invested and reinvested by the treasurer with the approval of the legislative body.

(c) The town treasurer shall file quarterly reports with the legislative body regarding his or her actions set forth in subsections (a) and (b) of this section.

(d) The town treasurer shall annually, on or before June 30, complete and provide to the selectboard a copy of the document made available by the auditor of accounts pursuant to 32 V.S.A. § 163(11) regarding internal financial controls.

Sec. 28. 24 V.S.A. § 1686 is amended to read:

§ 1686. PENALTY

(a) At any time in their discretion, town auditors may, and if requested by the selectboard, shall, examine and adjust the accounts of any town officer authorized by law to receive or disburse money belonging to the town.

* * *

* * * Supervisory Unions and Supervisory Districts;

Internal Financial Controls * * *

Sec. 29. 16 V.S.A. § 242a is added to read:

§ 242a. INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS

(a) The superintendent or his or her designee shall annually, on or before December 31, complete and provide to the supervisory union board and to all member district boards a copy of the document regarding internal financial controls made available by the auditor of accounts pursuant to 32 V.S.A. § 163(11).

(b) The supervisory union board shall review the document provided by the superintendent within two months of receiving it.

* * * Search and Rescue * * *

**Sec. 30. SEARCH AND RESCUE OPERATIONS; INTERIM PROTOCOL;
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY**

(a) By the effective date of this act, the department of public safety (the "department") shall develop and implement an interim protocol establishing responsibility and authority for search and rescue operations. The interim protocol shall be based upon the following standards and organizational structure:

(1) Standards. The interim protocol shall require:

(A) all search and rescue operations be made pursuant to the incident command system set forth in subdivision (2) of this subsection;

(B) an immediate response to every search and rescue call for help, which shall include an immediate call to the department's search and rescue team without regard to whether the call for help may be classified as a missing person complaint as that term is described in 20 V.S.A. chapter 112; and

(C) the earliest possible rescue or recovery of every person needing search and rescue assistance.

(2) Incident command system. Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, the search and rescue team within the department of public safety shall have lead responsibility for search and rescue operations in any municipality in Vermont without an established police department or which is not under contract with a sheriff to provide law enforcement services pursuant to 24 V.S.A. § 291a. In any municipality with an established police department that has at least one officer who has obtained high-level search and rescue training and training on the incident command system or in any municipality under contract with a sheriff who has obtained that training, the chief of police or the sheriff shall determine whether that police department or sheriff will assume lead responsibility for search and rescue operations in that municipality. Only such a municipal police department or sheriff confirming in writing to the department its assumption of lead responsibility shall have that responsibility and, if so responsible, shall be required to collaborate with the department in the implementation of this interim protocol. In all other instances, the search and rescue team shall have lead responsibility. No matter what entity has lead responsibility in any municipality, the department shall be required to perform the following actions in order to form a reliable incident command system conforming to the standards set forth in this subsection.

(A) Assessment of resources.

(i) The department, on a barracks-by-barracks basis, shall assess all available resources existing within the state that are capable of assisting the department in search and rescue operations. These resources shall include all of those within the department and the departments of fish and wildlife and of health; sheriffs; local police departments; municipal and volunteer fire departments; local search and rescue organizations; and any other state, local, or nongovernmental agency with relevant expertise and experience.

(ii) The assessment shall include an evaluation of the strengths of each resource in terms of its capability to contribute to different aspects and types of search and rescue operations. The department shall confirm with a resource that resource's strengths and capabilities.

(B) Organization; database.

(i) Based on its assessment of resources, the department shall organize the resources into different categories based on geographic areas of the state; availability; and the capability to perform incident-specific search and rescue operations.

(ii) The department shall enter the resources into a database organized based on those categories. The database shall be maintained and continually updated by the department.

(C) Utilization. For every search and rescue call for help, the department shall utilize the database in order to deploy appropriate search and rescue resources when responding to a call for help.

(D) Training. By July 1, 2014, the department's search and rescue team and all Vermont game wardens shall obtain high level search and rescue operations training and training on the incident command system.

(b) The interim protocol shall be implemented pursuant to this section until further legislative action by the general assembly.

(c) As used in this section, "search and rescue" means the search for and provision of aid to people who are missing, lost, or stranded in the outdoors on Vermont's land or inland waterways.

Sec. 31. SEARCH AND RESCUE STRATEGIC PLAN DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

(a) Creation of committee; purpose. There is created a search and rescue strategic plan development committee to recommend how search and rescue operations should be conducted in Vermont on a permanent basis. As used in this section, "search and rescue" means the search for and provision of aid to

people who are missing, lost, or stranded in the outdoors on Vermont's land or inland waterways.

(b) Membership. The search and rescue strategic plan development committee shall be composed of 13 members. The members of the committee shall be as follows:

(1) One member of the house appointed by the speaker.

(2) One member of the senate appointed by the committee on committees.

(3) The commissioner of public safety or designee.

(4) The commissioner of fish and wildlife or designee.

(5) The president of the Vermont Police Association or designee.

(6) The president of the Vermont Sheriffs' Association, Inc. or designee.

(7) The team leader of Stowe Mountain Rescue or designee.

(8) The team leader of Colchester Technical Rescue or designee.

(9) One licensed first responder appointed by the commissioner of health.

(10) Two members of the Vermont Coalition of Fire & Rescue Services, Inc. appointed by the chair of the coalition, one of whom shall be a professional firefighter and one of whom shall be a volunteer firefighter.

(11) One public member with experience in search and rescue operations and in the incident command system appointed by the governor.

(12) One member of the National Ski Patrol appointed by the northern regional director of the National Ski Patrol's eastern division.

(c) Structure; decision-making. The committee shall elect two co-chairs from its membership, at least one of whom shall be a legislative member. The provisions of 1 V.S.A. § 172 (joint authority of three or more) shall apply to the meetings and decision-making of the committee.

(d) Powers and duties. The committee shall:

(1) review the existing method, responsibility, and organizational structure for conducting search and rescue operations in Vermont, including any existing statutory, rule, or policy requirements, if any, and identify the advantages and disadvantages of the current system;

(2) consider models used in other states for managing search and rescue operations;

(3) determine whether the department of public safety or a different state agency should be responsible for supervising search and rescue operations for people who are missing, lost, or stranded in the outdoors on Vermont's land or inland waterways;

(4) consider and evaluate different organizational structures in order to recommend how to most effectively manage Vermont's search and rescue processes and resources;

(5) determine whether minimum qualifications, certification, or other credentialing should be required for persons participating in search and rescue operations and whether search and rescue responders who are not state employees should be provided with insurance coverage;

(6) develop a database of available statewide resources capable of assisting in search and rescue operations, which may be organized pursuant to different geographic regions of the state;

(7) consider the feasibility of establishing an online database of persons who are missing, lost, or stranded in the outdoors on Vermont's land or inland waterways that would provide automatic notice to first responders;

(8) develop and recommend a method of reviewing completed search and rescue operations and how those operations could be improved;

(9) recommend guidelines that would enable communication among search and rescue resources in responding to a call for help;

(10) recommend methods of balancing speed versus safety in responding to calls for help in order to create the greatest level of efficiency;

(11) determine whether a new chapter for search and rescue operations should be added within Title 20 of the Vermont Statutes Annotated; and

(12) determine whether firefighters and law enforcement officers should be required to obtain training in search and rescue operations and on the incident command system as part of certification or recertification requirements.

(e) Consultant. The co-chairs of the committee, in consultation with the commissioner of the department of public safety, may hire a consultant who professionally specializes in search and rescue operations in order to assist the committee in its duties.

(f) Report. The committee shall report its findings and recommendations, together with draft legislation in order to implement those recommendations, to the general assembly on or before December 15, 2012.

(g) Number of meetings; term of committee. The committee may meet no more than five times and shall cease to exist on December 15, 2012.

(h) Reimbursement. Members of the committee who are not employees of the state of Vermont shall be reimbursed at the per diem rate set forth in 32 V.S.A. § 1010. Legislative members shall be entitled to the same per diem compensation and reimbursement for necessary expenses for attendance at a meeting when the general assembly is not in session as provided to members of standing committees under 2 V.S.A. § 406.

(i) Assistance. The legislative council shall provide administrative, legal, and drafting support to the committee.

* * * Emergency Medical Services * * *

Sec. 32. 18 V.S.A. § 901 is amended to read:

§ 901. POLICY

It is the policy of the state of Vermont that all persons who suffer sudden and unexpected illness or injury should have access to the emergency medical services system in order to prevent loss of life or the aggravation of the illness or injury, and to alleviate suffering. The system should include competent emergency medical care provided by adequately trained, licensed, credentialed, and equipped personnel acting under appropriate medical control. Persons involved in the delivery of emergency medical care should be encouraged to maintain and advance their levels of training and ~~certification~~ licensure, and to upgrade the quality of their vehicles and equipment.

Sec. 33. 18 V.S.A. § 903 is amended to read:

§ 903. AUTHORIZATION FOR PROVISION OF EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, including provisions of 26 V.S.A. chapter 23 ~~of Title 26~~, persons who are ~~certified~~ licensed and credentialed to provide emergency medical care pursuant to the requirements of this chapter and implementing regulations are hereby authorized to provide such care without further certification, registration or licensing.

Sec. 34. 18 V.S.A. § 904 is amended to read:

§ 904. ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS

(a) In order to carry out the purposes and responsibilities of this chapter, the department of health may contract for the provision of specific services.

(b) The secretary of human services, upon the recommendation of the ~~department~~ commissioner of health, may issue regulations to carry out the purposes and responsibilities of this chapter.

Sec. 35. 18 V.S.A. § 906 is amended to read:

§ 906. EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES DIVISION; RESPONSIBILITIES

To implement the policy of section 901, the department of health shall be responsible for:

(1) Developing and implementing minimum standards for training emergency medical personnel in basic life support and advanced life support, and ~~certifying their~~ licensing emergency medical personnel according to their level of training and competence.

(2) Developing and implementing minimum standards for vehicles used in providing emergency medical care, designating the types and quantities of equipment that must be carried by these vehicles, and registering those vehicles according to appropriate classifications.

(3) Developing a statewide system of emergency medical services including but not limited to planning, organizing, coordinating, improving, expanding, monitoring and evaluating emergency medical services.

(4) Establishing by rule minimum standards for the credentialing of emergency medical personnel by their affiliated agency, which shall be required in addition to the licensing requirements of this chapter in order for a person to practice as an emergency medical provider. Credentialing shall consist of the minimum and appropriate requirements necessary to ensure that an emergency medical provider can demonstrate the competence and minimum skills necessary to practice within his or her scope of licensure. Any rule shall balance the need for documenting competency against the burden placed on rural or smaller volunteer squads with little or no administrative staff.

(5) Developing volunteer and career response time standards for urban and rural requests for emergency services.

(6) Training, or assisting in the training of, emergency medical personnel.

~~(5)~~(7) Assisting hospitals in the development of programs which will improve the quality of in-hospital services for persons requiring emergency medical care.

~~(6)~~(8) Developing and implementing procedures to insure that emergency medical services are rendered only with appropriate medical control. For the provision of advanced life support, appropriate medical control shall include at a minimum:

(A) written protocols between the appropriate officials of receiving hospitals and ~~ambulance services~~ emergency medical services districts defining their operational procedures;

(B) where necessary and practicable, direct communication between emergency medical personnel and a physician or person acting under the direct supervision of a physician;

(C) when such communication has been established, a specific order from the physician or person acting under the direct supervision of the physician to employ a certain medical procedure;

(D) use of advanced life support, when appropriate, only by emergency medical personnel who are certified by the department of health to employ advanced life support procedures.

~~(7)(9)~~ Establishing requirements for the collection of data by emergency medical personnel and hospitals as may be necessary to evaluate emergency medical care.

~~(8)(10)~~ Establishing, by rule, ~~levels of individual certification and application forms for advanced emergency medical care~~ license levels for emergency medical personnel. The commissioner shall use the guidelines established by the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA) in the U.S. Department of Transportation as a standard or other comparable standards, except that a felony conviction shall not necessarily disqualify an applicant. The rules shall also provide that:

(A) An individual may apply for and obtain one or more additional ~~certifications~~ licenses, including ~~certification~~ licensure as an advanced emergency medical technician or as a paramedic.

(B) An individual ~~certified~~ licensed by the commissioner as an emergency medical technician, advanced emergency medical technician, or a paramedic, who is ~~affiliated with a licensed ambulance service, fire department, or rescue service~~ credentialed by an affiliated agency, shall be able to practice fully within the scope of practice for such level of ~~certification~~ licensure as defined by NHTSA's National EMS Scope of Practice Model ~~notwithstanding any law or rule to the contrary~~ consistent with the license level of the affiliated agency, and subject to the medical direction of the ~~commissioner or designee~~ emergency medical services district medical advisor.

(C) Unless otherwise provided under this section, an individual seeking any level of ~~certification~~ licensure shall be required to pass an examination approved by the commissioner for that level of ~~certification~~ licensure. Written and practical examinations shall not be required for ~~recertification~~ relicensure; however, to maintain ~~certification~~ licensure, all individuals shall complete a specified number of hours of continuing education as established by rule by the commissioner. The commissioner shall ensure

that continuing education classes are available online and provided on a regional basis to accommodate the needs of volunteers and part-time individuals, including those in rural areas of the state.

~~(D) If there is a hardship imposed on any applicant for a certification license under this section because of unusual circumstances, the applicant may apply to the commissioner for a temporary or permanent waiver of one or more of the certification licensure requirements, which the commissioner may grant for good cause.~~

~~(E) An applicant who has served as an advanced emergency medical technician, such as a hospital corpsman or a medic in the United States Armed Forces, or who is licensed as a registered nurse or a physician's physician assistant shall be granted a permanent waiver of the training requirements to become a certified licensed emergency medical technician, an advanced emergency medical technician, or a paramedic, provided the applicant passes the applicable examination approved by the commissioner for that level of certification licensure and further provided that the applicant is affiliated with a rescue service, fire department, or licensed ambulance service credentialed by an affiliated agency.~~

~~(F) An applicant who is certified registered on the National Registry of Emergency Medical Technicians as an EMT basic, EMT intermediate, emergency medical technician, an advanced emergency medical technician, or a paramedic shall be granted certification licensure as a Vermont EMT basic, EMT intermediate, emergency medical technician, an advanced emergency medical technician, or a paramedic without the need for further testing, provided he or she is affiliated with an ambulance service, fire department, or rescue service, credentialed by an affiliated agency or is serving as a medic with the Vermont National Guard.~~

~~(G) No advanced certification shall be required for a trainee in established advanced training programs leading to certification as an advanced emergency medical technician, provided that the trainee is supervised by an individual holding a level of certification for which the trainee is training and the student is enrolled in an approved certification program.~~

Sec. 36. 18 V.S.A. § 906a is added to read:

§ 906a. RELICENSURE; GRACE PERIOD

A person certified or licensed as an emergency medical provider shall have six months after his or her certification or license has expired to resubmit the necessary information for renewal of the certificate or license.

Sec. 37. 18 V.S.A. § 906b is added to read:

§ 906b. TRANSITIONAL PROVISION; CERTIFICATION TO LICENSURE

Every person certified as an emergency medical provider shall have his or her certification converted to the comparable level of licensure. Until such time as the department of health issues licenses in lieu of certificates, each certified emergency medical provider shall have the right to practice in accordance with his or her level of certification.

Sec. 38. 18 V.S.A. § 908 is added to read:

§ 908. EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES SPECIAL FUND

(a) The emergency medical services special fund is established pursuant to 32 V.S.A. chapter 7, subchapter 5 comprising revenues received by the department from the general fund that are designated for this special fund and public and private sources as gifts, grants, and donations together with additions and interest accruing to the fund. The commissioner of health shall administer the fund to the extent funds are available to support online and regional training programs, data collection and analysis, and other activities relating to the training of emergency medical personnel and delivery of emergency medical services and ambulance services in Vermont, as determined by the commissioner, after consulting with the EMS advisory committee established under section 909 of this title. Any balance at the end of the fiscal year shall be carried forward in the fund.

(b) From the funds in the emergency medical services special fund, the commissioner of health shall develop and implement by September 1, 2012 online training opportunities and offer regional classes to enable individuals to comply with the requirements of subdivision 906(9)(c) of this title.

Sec. 39. 18 V.S.A. § 909 is added to read:

§ 909. EMS ADVISORY COMMITTEE

(a) The commissioner shall establish an advisory committee to advise on matters relating to the delivery of emergency medical services (EMS) in Vermont.

(b) The advisory committee shall be chaired by the commissioner or his or her designee and shall include the following 14 other members:

(1) four representatives of EMS districts. The representatives shall be selected by the EMS districts in four regions of the state. Those four regions shall correspond with the geographic lines used by the public safety districts pursuant to 20 V.S.A. § 5. For purposes of this subdivision, an EMS district located in more than one public safety district shall be deemed to be located in the public safety district in which it serves the greatest number of people;

(2) a representative from the Vermont Ambulance Association, or designee;

(3) a representative from the initiative for rural emergency medical services program at the University of Vermont, or designee;

(4) a representative from the Professional Firefighters of Vermont, or designee;

(5) a representative from the Vermont Career Fire Chiefs Association, or designee;

(6) a representative from the Vermont State Firefighters' Association, or designee;

(7) an emergency department director of a Vermont hospital appointed by the Vermont Association of Emergency Department Directors, or designee;

(8) an emergency department nurse manager of a Vermont hospital appointed by the Vermont Association of Emergency Department Nurse Managers, or designee;

(9) a representative from the Vermont State Firefighters' Association who serves on a first response or FAST squad;

(10) a representative from the Vermont Association of Hospitals and Health Systems, or designee; and

(11) a local government member not affiliated with emergency medical services, firefighter services, or hospital services, appointed by the Vermont League of Cities and Towns.

(c) The committee shall meet not less than quarterly in the first year and not less than twice annually each subsequent year and may be convened at any time by the commissioner or his or her designee or at the request of seven committee members.

(d) Beginning January 1, 2014 and for the ensuing two years, the committee shall report annually on the emergency medical services system to the house committees on commerce and economic development and on human services and to the senate committees on economic development, housing and general affairs and on health and welfare. The committee's initial and ensuing reports shall include each EMS district's response times to 911 emergencies in the previous year based on information collected from the Vermont department of health's division of emergency medical services and recommendations on the following:

(1) whether Vermont EMS districts should be consolidated such as along the geographic lines used by the four public safety districts established under 20 V.S.A. § 5;

(2) whether every Vermont municipality should be required to have in effect an emergency medical services plan providing for timely and competent emergency responses; and.

(3) whether the state should establish directives addressing when an agency can respond to a nonemergency request for transportation of a patient if doing so will leave the service area unattended or unable to respond to an emergency call in a timely fashion.

Sec. 40. 24 V.S.A. § 2651 is amended to read:

§ 2651. DEFINITIONS

As used in this chapter:

(1) “Advanced emergency medical treatment” means those portions of emergency medical treatment as defined by the department of health, which may be performed by ~~certified~~ licensed emergency medical services personnel acting under the supervision of a physician within a system of medical control approved by the department of health.

* * *

(4) “Basic emergency medical treatment” means those portions of emergency medical treatment, as defined by the department of health, which may be exercised by ~~certified~~ licensed emergency medical services personnel acting under their own authority.

* * *

(6) “Emergency medical personnel” means persons, including volunteers, ~~certified~~ licensed by the department of health to provide emergency medical treatment on behalf of an ~~organization such as an ambulance service or first responder service~~ affiliated agency whose primary function is the provision of emergency medical treatment. The term does not include duly licensed or registered physicians, dentists, nurses, or ~~physicians’~~ physician assistants when practicing in their customary work setting.

* * *

(15) “Volunteer personnel” means persons who are ~~certified~~ licensed by the department of health to provide emergency medical treatment on behalf of an affiliated agency without expectation of remuneration for the treatment rendered other than nominal payments and reimbursement for expenses, and

who do not depend in any significant way on the provision of such treatment for their livelihood.

(16) "Affiliated agency" means an ambulance service or first responder service licensed under this chapter, including a fire department, rescue squad, police department, ski patrol, hospital, or other entity licensed to provide emergency medical services under this chapter.

Sec. 41. 24 V.S.A. § 2657 is amended to read:

§ 2657. PURPOSES AND POWERS OF EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES DISTRICTS

(a) It shall be the function of each emergency medical services district to foster and coordinate emergency medical services within the district, in the interest of affording adequate ambulance services within the district. Each emergency medical services district shall have powers which include, but are not limited to, the power to:

** * **

(3) Enter into agreements and contracts for furnishing technical, educational ~~or~~, and support services and credentialing related to the provision of emergency medical treatment.

** * **

(8) Sponsor or approve programs of education approved by the department of health which lead to the ~~certification~~ licensure of emergency medical services personnel.

(9) ~~Cooperate~~ Establish medical control within the district with physicians and representatives of medical facilities to establish medical control within the district, including written protocols with the appropriate officials of receiving hospitals defining their operational procedures.

(10) Assist the department of health in a program of testing for ~~certification~~ licensure of emergency medical services personnel.

(11) Assure that each affiliated agency in the district has implemented a system for the credentialing of all its licensed emergency medical personnel.

(12) Develop protocols for providing appropriate response times to requests for emergency medical services.

** * **

Sec. 42. 24 V.S.A. § 2682 is amended to read:

§ 2682. POWERS OF STATE BOARD

(a) The state board shall administer this subchapter and shall have power to:

(1) Issue licenses for ambulance services and first responder services under this subchapter.

* * *

(3) Make, adopt, amend, and revise, as it deems necessary or expedient, reasonable rules in order to promote and protect the health, safety, and welfare of members of the public using, served by, or in need of, emergency medical treatment. Any rule may be repealed within 90 days of the date of its adoption by a majority vote of all the district boards. Such rules may cover or relate to:

(A) Age, training, credentialing, and physical requirements for emergency medical services personnel.

* * *

Sec. 43. REPEAL

Sec. 20(c) of No. 142 of the Acts of the 2009 Adj. Sess. (2010) (EMS services exceeding scope of practice of affiliated agency) is repealed.

Sec. 44. 21 V.S.A. § 601 is amended to read:

§ 601. DEFINITIONS

Unless the context otherwise requires, words and phrases used in this chapter shall be construed as follows:

* * *

(12) "Public employment" means the following:

* * *

(K) other municipal workers, including volunteer firefighters and rescue and ambulance squads while acting in ~~the line of duty, after the governing officials of such municipal body so vote~~ any capacity under the direction and control of the fire department or rescue and ambulance squads;

(L) members of any regularly organized private volunteer fire department while acting in ~~the line of duty after election by the organization to have its members covered by this chapter~~ any capacity under the direction and control of the fire department;

~~(M) members of any regularly organized private volunteer rescue or ambulance squad while acting in the line of duty after election by the organization to have its members covered by this chapter any capacity under the direction and control of the rescue or ambulance squad;~~

* * *

Sec. 45. EFFECTIVE DATES

This act shall take effect on July 1, 2012 except for this section and the following sections, which shall take effect on passage:

- (1) Sec. 22 (amending 30 V.S.A. § 8102);*
- (2) Sec. 24 (auditor website; audit findings);*
- (3) Sec. 30 (search and rescue operations; interim protocol; department of public safety); and*
- (4) Sec. 31 (search and rescue strategic plan development committee).*